#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-1070 Lower Tribunal No.: 1D09-2595

MONICA STEELE,
Petitioner,
v.
GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY, ET AL.,
Respondent.
On appeal from the Court of Appeal, First District
L.T. CASE NO.: 1D09-2595
BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER MONICA STEELE

JAMES E. MESSER, JR. FONVIELLE LEWIS FOOTE & MESSER 3375-A, Capital Circle, Northeast Tallahassee, FL 32308

Florida Bar No.: 998753

Tel.: 850-422-7773 Fax: 850-422-3449

E-mail: jim@flfm-law.com

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Steele (hereinafter referred to as "Steele") appeals a decision of the Court of Appeal, First District, which reversed a final declaration of insurance coverage entered in favor of Steele (and other defendants) on her Motion for Summary Judgment.

GEICO filed a declaratory judgment action with the trial court seeking a declaration that there was no coverage afforded to the driver for the injuries suffered by Steele while a passenger in the vehicle. [V.I R. 1-45, 63-116]. Steele answered and counter-claimed for coverage. [V.I R. 133-141].

GEICO then filed a first Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a declaration that the vehicle involved in the crash was defined as a "non-owned auto" for which the Shazier-issued policy did not provide coverage to her, the driver or the owner. [V. I R. 154-225; V. II R. 226-99]. Steele responded to the motion noting that GEICO's allegation that the matter did not involve an "owned auto" was misplaced because the rented vehicle, while not titled in Shazier's name, was defined as an owned vehicle by the language of the GEICO policy thereby providing coverage for the incident. [V. I R. 415-16].

Following the hearing on GEICO's First Motion for Summary Judgment the Court issued an Order denying the motion without prejudice and permitting additional discovery regarding the applicability of the term "temporary substitute

auto." [V. I R. 453]. The Court permitted discovery to determine the extent Shazier's "owned auto" was "withdrawn from normal use because of breakdown, repair, servicing, loss or destruction" as may or may not be applicable. [V. I R. 453].

After additional discovery [V. I R. 721-45, second Shazier deposition] Steele filed her own Motion for Summary Judgment claiming Shazier rented the AVIS vehicle as her car "needed repair" because "the transmission went out" and it was "broken down" and it was used on a temporary basis as a substitute vehicle because she could not afford to immediately fix her car. [V. V R. 735-36]. Steele argued the AVIS rental (1) met the definition of "owned vehicle" under policy and that (2) once Shazier rented the vehicle for this manner, she became the owner of the vehicle for purposes of insurance coverage. [V. III R. 487].

GEICO responded to Steele's Motion for Summary Judgment with its own Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a ruling that the policy did not provide coverage for her with respect to the crash of August 19, 2006. [V. IV R. 638]. GEICO argued that (1) the rental vehicle did not meet the definition of "temporary substitute vehicle" pursuant to the policy and (2) that the operator did not have permission of the title holder/owner of the vehicle, AVIS, to use the vehicle. [V. III R. 587-610; V. IV R. 637-66].

The Trial Court ultimately held there was no genuine issue of material fact in dispute and that GEICO was obligated to defend and indemnify Shazier and Jordan. [V. VII R. 1149]. GEICO's appeal followed. [V. VII R. 1151-65].

On March 10, 2010 the Court of Appeal, First District, reversed and remanded the Trial Court's entry of Summary Judgment in favor of Steele with direction to enter final summary judgment in favor of GEICO. *GEICO Indemnity Co. v. Shazier*, 34 So. 3d 42 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2010). The Court denied a timely filed Motion for Rehearing on May 4, 2010. This appeal followed.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 19, 2006, Petitioner Kutasha P. Shazier was listed as the first named insured on a GEICO Family Automobile Policy No. 4029-01-30-44 which provided liability coverage in the amount of \$10,000 per person/\$20,000 per occurrence effective June 18, 2006 to December 18, 2006. [V.V R. 1-12]. The policy had an effective period from June 18, 2006 to December 18, 2006. [V. III R. 492]. On or about August 16, 2006 Shazier rented a 2006 Hyundai Vehicle Identification Number 5NPEU46F16H081535, bearing Florida Tag #S598UC (hereinafter "the vehicle") from AVIS RENT-A-CAR SYSTEM, LLC, and/or PV HOLDING CORP. [V. I R. 36-38]. Shazier rented the 2006 Hyundai Sonata as a temporary, substitute, replacement vehicle for her own vehicle. [V. I R. 735-36]. At the time, Shazier was in the process of moving from Jacksonville to Midway,

Florida [V. V R. 725] but she also had to be in the Tallahassee-area to attend her father's funeral. [V. V R. 675-76]. Although Shazier owned a 2000 Ford Expedition, she rented the Hyundai because her 2000 Ford "wasn't running that great." [V. V. R. 677-78, Shazier First Deposition]. In fact, the Expedition had suffered a transmission failure and was broken down. [V. V R. 735, Shazier Second Deposition]. The vehicle was withdrawn from use. [V. V R. 736-37]. The Hyundai was a temporary substitute vehicle. [V. V R. 736-37]. It was a substitute for the 2000 Ford Expedition because Shazier could not afford to repair her vehicle. [V. V R. 736-37]. She parked it out on the family land and withdrew it from normal use. [V. V R. 736-37]. She did not drive it between the time it was parked and it was repaired. [V. V R. 738].

Pursuant to the GEICO policy, any vehicle being used as a temporary substitute vehicle is defined by the policy as an owned vehicle for purposes of insurance coverage. [V. I R. 503, Liability Coverages, Definitions, 9].

Having rented the temporary, substitute vehicle and driven it to the family land, Shazier then entrusted the rental vehicle to Petitioner Fredrick Royal when he asked for the keys. [V. V R. 685]. Shazier entrusted the vehicle to Royal to listen to the radio. [V. V R. 709]. Shazier entrusted the vehicle to Royal to start the car and listen to the radio. [V. V R. 709]. Shazier entrusted the vehicle to Royal to drive the car. [V. V R. 709; V. V R. 686-87]. In fact, Shazier entrusted the car to

him to operate as he decided. [V. V R. 677-78; V. V R. 709-10] and [V. V R. 735; V. V R. 778]. Shazier also permitted Fredrick Royal to entrust the vehicle to a third party, Curtis Royal to go to the liquor store. [V. V R. 778]. Shazier never limited the scope of who was permitted to use the rental vehicle, [V. V R. 710; V. V R. 785], nor did she tell Royal not to let other people use the vehicle. [V. V R. 710].

After Curtis Royal returned from the liquor store with the vehicle, Fredrick Royal then entrusted the vehicle to Petitioner Tercina Jordan. [V. V R. 779]. Petitioner Jordan neither threatened, struck or stole the keys from Curtis Royal. [V. V R. 779]. According to Royal, he gave Jordan permission to drive to the store and "come on back." [V. V R. 779]. Jordan agreed noting Royal told her to take them to the store and come right back from the store. [V. V R. 810]. Jordan then negligently operated and/or negligently maintained the rented vehicle causing the vehicle to leave the road on Brickyard Road, Midway, Florida, at a high rate of speed crashing into a tree. [V. V R. 816-17].

Monica Steele was a passenger in the rented vehicle at the time that Tercina Jordan crashed the vehicle into the tree. V. V R. 813-14]. Monica Steele was injured in the crash. [V. I R. 151].

GEICO is an insurance company incorporated in the State of Maryland, registered to do business in Florida, and maintaining its principal place of business

at 5620 Western Avenue, Chevy Chase, MD 20815-0799. [V. I R. 150]. GEICO filed the instant action for declaratory judgment pursuant to Section 86.011, Florida Statutes, seeking a determination whether or not GEICO INDENMITY COMPANY owes a duty to indemnify and/or defend Kutasha Shazier. [V. I R. 63-116].

#### PERTINENT GEICO INSURANCE POLICY LANGUAGE

GEICO's Family Automobile Policy issued to Kutasha P. Shazier reads, <u>in</u> pertinent part, as follows:

SECTION I, LIABILITY COVERAGES of your policy provides, in part, as follows:

#### **DEFINITIONS**

- 4. "Insured" means a person or organization described under PERSONS INSURED.
- 5. "Non-owned auto" means a private passenger, farm or utility auto or trailer, not owned by or furnished for the regular use of either you or a relative, other than a temporary substitute auto.
  An auto rented or leased for more than 30 days will be considered as furnished for regular use.

#### 6. "Owned auto" means

- a. a vehicle described in this policy for which a premium
   charge is shown for these coverages;
- b. a *trailer* owned by *you*;
- c. a *private passenger*, *farm* or *utility auto*, ownership of which *you* acquire during the policy period, if
  - i. it replaces an *owned auto* as defined in (a) above;or
  - ii. we insure all *private passenger*, *farm* and *utility*autos owned by you on the date of acquisition and you ask us to add it to the policy not more than 30 days later;
- d. a temporary substitute auto.
- 8. "Relative" means a person related to you who reside in your household, including your ward or foster child.
- 9. "Temporary substitute auto" means a private passenger, farm or trailer, not owned by you, temporarily used with the permission of the owner. This vehicle must be used as a substitute for the owned auto or trailer when withdrawn from normal use because of its breakdown repair, servicing, loss or destruction.

#### LOSSES WE WILL PAY FOR YOU

Under Section I, we will pay damages which an *insured* becomes legally obligated to pay because of:

- 1. **bodily injury**, sustained by a person, and
- 2. damage to or destruction of property.

arising out the ownership, maintenance, or use of the *owned auto* or a *non-owned auto*. We will defend any suit for damages payable under the terms of this policy. We may investigate and settle any claim or suit.

[V.I R. 21, GEICO Policy, emphasis in original].

#### **PERSONS INSURED**

#### Who is Covered

Section I applies to the following *insureds* with regard to an *owned* auto:

- 1. *you*;
- any other person using the auto with your permission.
   The actual use must be within the scope of that permission;

3. any other person or organization for his or its liability because of act or omissions of an *insured* under 1. or 2. above.

Section I applies to the following with regard to a *non-owned* auto:

- 1. you and your relatives when driving the non-owned auto. Such use must be with the permission, or reasonably believed to be with the permission, of the owner and within the scope of that permission.
- 2. a person or organization, not owning or hiring the auto, regarding his or her liability because of acts or omissions of an *insured* under 1. above.

The limits of liability stated in the declarations are our maximum obligations regardless of the number of *insureds* involved in the occurrence.

[V. I R. 21-23][GEICO Policy, emphasis in original].

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine is a unique part of Florida's law and recognizes the importance of extending liability and insurance coverage for the use and operation of automobiles in order to "provide greater financial responsibility to

pay for the carnage on our roads." *Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp.*, 572 So. 2d 1363, 1365 (Fla. 1990). As this Court has previously articulated: "We are loath to engraft upon this doctrine...further exception[s] that would have such far-reaching consequences." *Id.* The decision of the District Court creates just such a circumstance.

The First District Court of Appeal's decision sets forth a new definition of permission and consent under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and directly conflicts with *Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard*, 112 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1959), *Roth v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 269 So. 2d 3(Fla. 1972) and *American Fire & Cas. Co. v. Blanton*, 182 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) (relied upon by *Roth*).

Susco, Roth and Blanton establish the principle under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine that the owner and/or lessor of a vehicle, and likewise the lessee/bailee, cannot escape liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine through reliance on a separate third-party agreement that limits the scope of who may operate the vehicle. The core reasoning behind this rule is that the consent of the owner can only be removed by a species of conversion or theft. Thus, where the owner grants permission for the use or operation of his automobile beyond his own immediate control, that permission is vitiated only by a subsequent conversion or theft of the vehicle. A separate contract between the owner and bailee restricting the operation of that vehicle does not negate the liability imposed under

the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. The District Court's interpretation of the GEICO policy, however, ignores this precedent and interprets the term "permission" narrowly. In its opinion, the First District relies upon the rental agreement between Avis and Shazier, which restricts who may operate the vehicle, to vitiate the owner's consent required under the GEICO policy to qualify as a "temporary substitute auto". The meaning of the term permission under the GEICO policy should have been interpreted as correspondent with the meaning of permission under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. The decision below conflicts not only with the letter of *Roth* and *Susco* but with the public policy underlying the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

In addition, the opinion conflicts with long standing precedent regarding the interpretation of an insurance contract. Where an undefined term in a policy is susceptible to more than one meaning, that term must be interpreted in favor of the insured and in light of the existing applicable law.

The District Court's opinion interprets "permission" narrowly so as to preclude coverage and ignores the applicable and existing law regarding the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. Based upon these direct conflicts with this Court's precedent, the First District Court of Appeal's opinion below should be reversed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court, in reviewing an order granting summary final judgment, applies "the *de novo* standard of review to determine whether there are genuine issues of material fact and whether the [District] court properly applied the correct rule of law." *Futch v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 988 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) (citing *Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000)).

Like other contracts, contracts of insurance should receive a construction that is reasonable, practical, sensible, and just. *Gen. Star Indem. Co. v. W. Fla. Village Inn, Inc.*, 874 So. 2d 26, 29 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). "[I]n construing insurance policies, courts should read each policy as a whole, endeavoring to give every provision its full meaning and operative effect." *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 756 So. 2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000); see *Riveroll v. Winterthur Int'l Ltd.*, 787 So. 2d 891, 892 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). Florida law holds that the language of insurance policies must be construed broadly in favor of coverage and strictly against the insurer who prepared the policy. *See Purrelli v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 698 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). "When dealing with grants of coverage, the courts should interpret the policy language broadly in favor of the existence of insurance, while limitations or exclusions should be interpreted

narrowly against the insurer." *Progressive Ins. Co. v. Estate of Wesley*, 702 So. 2d 513, 515 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT INCORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT **RENTAL AVIS** CAR WAS **NOT TEMPORARY SUBSTITUTE VEHICLE** KUTASHA SHAZIER BECAUSE A VIOLATION RENTAL CONTRACT DOES NOT OF THE **DEPRIVE INSURED** THE OF **INSURANCE** COVERAGE FOR THE CRASH OF THE RENTAL **CAR** 

The Court of Appeal for the First District erred when it reversed the trial court's finding of insurance coverage based on its finding that the driver of the temporary substitute auto at the time of the collision was not listed as an authorized driver on the rental agreement between Shazier and Avis. Relying on this third party agreement, the Court reversed and held the use of the rental car by anyone other than the renter "automatically" revoked the permission granted to Shazier by Avis. The *Shazier* decision expressly and directly conflicts with this court's holding in *Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Company*, 269 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1972) and should be reversed.

A. The Rental Auto Was Used As A Temporary Substitute Vehicle As Defined By The GEICO Policy Because Petitioner's Auto Had Been Withdrawn From Normal Use Because of It's Breakdown, Repair, Servicing, Loss or Destruction

In its Complaint, Amended Complaint, First Motion for Summary Judgment, denied without prejudice, its Second Motion for Summary Judgment, denied with prejudice and appeal, GEICO has asserted that this case did not involve an owned auto because the rental car obtained by Shazier was not a "temporary substitute auto" as defined by the policy.

The policy language, however, shows that the rental vehicle does meet the definition of an owned vehicle pursuant to the GEICO policy for purposes of insurance coverage for Kutasha Shazier. In fact the GEICO policy includes a temporary substitute auto within the types of auto's listed as "owned autos." Thus, when Shazier rented the Avis vehicle as a temporary substitute auto, it became the equivalent of Shazier's listed Ford Expedition with respect to GEICO's policy with Shazier. Under a plain reading of the policy, once the Avis vehicle was legally leased from Avis it took the place of the Ford Expedition and became Shazier's "owned auto" with respect to her GEICO policy.

The policy language is clear. In Section I – LIABILITY COVERAGES, under definitions, number 6., an "owned auto" is defined as

(a) a vehicle described in this policy for which a premium charge is shown for these coverage and;

- - -

(d) a temporary substitute vehicle.

In the same definitional section, in part 9.:

"Temporary substitute auto" means a private passenger, farm or trailer, not owned by you, temporarily used with the permission of the owner. This vehicle must be used as a substitute for the owned auto or trailer when withdrawn from normal use because of its breakdown repair, servicing, loss or destruction.

Again, in the same definitional section, in part 13, "you" is defined as "the policy holder named in the declarations . . ."

Kutasha Shazier is listed as a named insured on the policy of insurance issued by GEICO. She is a covered (person) policy holder.

Kutasha Shazier owns a 2000 Ford Expedition which is a listed vehicle on the GEICO policy of insurance. The 2000 Ford Expedition meets the definition of owned auto pursuant to definitional section 6.(a).

In her deposition Ms. Shazier responded:

Q: Let me see if I can sort of sum things up. The Hyundai that you rented from Avis was being used as a temporary substitute automobile because your vehicle, that 2000 Expedition, had been withdrawn from normal use because, in your mind, it was broken down and needed repair?

A: Yes, sir.

[V. V R. 734-36].

As noted previously, section 9, the clear language of the definitional section of the GEICO policy, which defines temporary substitute vehicle, illustrates the Shazier vehicle was used for that specific purpose. A rental vehicle meets that definition if used as a temporary substitute. *Newbern Distr. Co. v. Canal Ins. Co.*, 124 So. 2d 721, 724 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960). Moreover, once Shazier rented the Avis vehicle as a temporary substitute auto, it became the equivalent of Shazier's listed Ford Expedition with respect to GEICO's policy with Shazier. Under a plain reading of the policy, once the Avis vehicle was rented from Avis it took the place of the Ford Expedition and became Shazier's "owned auto" with respect to her GEICO policy. As the "owner" she could entrust the rental car to whomever she wished - - as supported by this Court's case law herein.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In its Brief to the First District the Respondent incorrectly relied on *Newbern* as support for the definition of a "temporary substitute vehicle." *Newbern*, however, did not involve a temporary substitute vehicle. Instead, the Court in *Newbern* noted the case involved an "additional" motor vehicle and in no way constituted a "replacement" or "substitute" motor vehicle within the meaning of the respective insurance policies. *Id.* at 981.

B. The District Court's Opinion Directly Conflicts with Roth v. Old Republic Insurance Company Where the Supreme Court Held An Insurer Can Not Escape Liability For Negligent Operation of A Rental car By Someone Other Than The Authorized Driver

GEICO claims that because Shazier permitted someone other than herself, the authorized driver of the rental vehicle, to use the rental vehicle, it has no obligation to provide coverage for the crash. GEICO's position conflicts with the law of this Court.

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