# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CONSOLIDATED CASE NOS.: SC10-1068 & SC10-1070

# CASE NO.: SC10-1070

# MONICA STEELE, Petitioner,

v.

# GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY, Respondent.

#### -AND-

#### CASE NO.: SC10-1068

# RETHELL BYRD CHANDLER, etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

# GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY,

Respondent.

# **RESPONDENT GEICO'S CONSOLIDATED BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

ANGELA C. FLOWERS KUBICKI DRAPER Attorneys for Respondent GEICO 1805 SE 16<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 901 Ocala, FL 34471 Tel: (352) 622-4222

# **

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

No express and direct conflict exists and, therefore, this Court should

decline the invitation to exercise discretionary jurisdiction. This case turns on the

interpretation of a contractual provision defining "temporary substitute auto." The

First District correctly held that GEICO's policy of insurance did not provide

coverage under the "owned auto" provisions of the insurance policy where the

undisputed facts establish that the rental car did not qualify as a "temporary

substitute auto" as needed to trigger the "owned auto" provisions. The cases cited

by Petitioners for conflict jurisdiction do not involve a question of insurance contract interpretation, nor the term "temporary substitute auto." The district court decision not only followed the law regarding contract interpretation, but followed the existing precedent addressing the very issue presented. The law governing tort liability pursuant to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine does not apply to this contract interpretation case and cannot create insurance coverage that otherwise does not exist. In response to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the only insurance obligation that the Legislature has sought to impose is that the owner of the vehicle maintain primary insurance. Alternatively, the summary judgment entered by the trial court should be reversed because there were disputed issues of material fact regarding whether the rental car was inoperative or disabled, which disputed facts precluded the entry of summary judgment in favor of Petitioners.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

GEICO agrees with Petitioners that this Court reviews the lower tribunal's summary judgment ruling under the de novo standard. *Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 2000). Further, "A trial court's construction of an insurance policy to determine coverage is a matter of law subject to de novo review." *Barnier v. Rainey*, 890 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004).

#### ARGUMENT

#### I.

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION CORRECTLY FOLLOWS THE RULE THAT THE WORD 'PERMISSION' AS USED IN AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE CONTRACT'S DEFINITION OF A "TEMPORARY SUBSTITUTE AUTO" REFERS TO THE ACTUAL PERMISSION GRANTED BY THE OWNER AND IS NOT COEXTENSIVE WITH THE EXPANDED DEFINITION OF PERMISSION USED IN APPLYING TORT LIABILITY UNDER THE DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE

The GEICO family automobile policy issued to Shazier provides liability coverage for insured autos. The policy insures both "owned" and "non-owned" autos. The definitions of "owned" and "non-owned" autos are spelled out in the policy. This case involves the threshold question whether the rental car qualifies as an insured auto, either "owned" or "non-owned." This determination, in turn, directs which omnibus clause defines the scope of persons insured.

Unlike the cases cited by Petitioners, this case does not involve the question of whether the "owned auto" omnibus clause provides coverage to the driver/subbailee as a person insured.<sup>2</sup> Rather, in applying the policy language to the

2

Where there is a chain of custody involving an automobile, various terms are employed to describe the individuals in the chain. For instance: owner, bailee, sub-bailee; owner, lessee, sub-lessee; or owner permittee, second permittee. Throughout this brief, the driver at the time of the accident, Jordan, will be

threshold question of "owned" versus "non-owned" auto, the subject auto does not qualify as a "temporary substitute auto." Accordingly, as a "non-owned auto," the applicable omnibus clause limits coverage to "you [Shazier] and your relatives <u>when driving</u> the non-owned auto." (Emphasis added). It is undisputed that neither Shazier nor a relative was driving the rental car at the time of the accident. Thus, the First District correctly determined that the GEICO policy does not provide any coverage for the subject automobile accident.

Contrary to established law, Petitioners ask this Court to apply an expanded definition of "permission," when applying the "temporary substitute auto" definition. The Court should reject such request and, instead, follow the already well-established law that the vehicle owner's determination of the scope of permission controls whether an auto qualifies as a "temporary substitute auto." Moreover, there is no public policy reason to expand the meaning of "permission" when the term is used in a coverage clause providing auto insurance which is not mandated by Florida law.

# A. The First District's decision correctly applied the only existing law on the issue presented and does not expressly and directly conflict with any other Florida law.

The only Florida case to directly construe the phrase "used with the

referred to as the sub-bailee.

permission of its owner" as found within the "temporary substitute auto" definition is *Duncan Auto Realty, Ltd. v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 754 So. 2d 863, 865 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), which the First District followed in holding that there is no coverage under the GEICO policy because the rental car does not qualify as a "temporary substitute auto."

The standard definition for "temporary substitute auto" contains a permissive use limitation. The GEICO policy defines "temporary substitute auto" as:

a *private passenger, farm* or *utility auto* or *trailer*, not owned by *you*, temporarily used with the permission of the owner. This vehicle must be used as a substitute for the *owned auto* or *trailer* when withdrawn from normal use because of its breakdown, repair, servicing, loss or destruction.

[Petitioners' Appendix]. The *Duncan* court found the policy definition of "temporary substitute auto" to be unambiguous. 754 So. 2d at 864.

Courts do not have the power to create insurance coverage where none exists on the face of the policy. *Pastori v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 473 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); *Telemundo Television Studios, LLC, v. Aequicap Ins. Co.*, 38 So. 3d 807 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010). There is no statutory requirement that an automobile insurance policy extend any coverage for accidents involving a "temporary substitute auto." *Pastori v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 473 So. 2d at 41. Thus, the contract provisions concerning a "temporary substitute auto" should be given effect as written and the contracting parties are free to limit such coverage according to a particular type of loss, a particular class of insureds, or a permissive use clause.

In *Duncan*, Mr. Garcia was covered by an automobile insurance policy that provided insurance only to persons using one of the three listed autos. 754 So. 2d at 864. Mr. Garcia drove one of the listed vehicles to an auto dealership in order to shop for a new vehicle. While driving one of the dealership's trucks for a routine test drive, Mr. Garcia caused an accident which injured a third party. *Id*.

In a declaratory judgment proceeding, Mr. Garcia's insurance carrier sought a declaration that coverage was not triggered because the truck did not qualify under the policy as a "temporary substitute auto." *Id.* at 864. Thus, the court was called upon to interpret a standard "temporary substitute auto" provision which provided, in part, that coverage will be extended to "[a]ny 'auto' you do not own while used with the permission of its owner as a temporary substitute for a covered 'auto' you own . . . ." *Id.* The definition is applied to the facts existing "at the time of the accident." *Id.* at 865.

Based upon the plain language of the policy, the court held the subject

vehicle did not meet the definition of "temporary substitute auto" where "the auto dealer only granted [the driver] use of its truck for a routine test drive," *Id.* at 865. Because "the owner of the temporary substitute vehicle, not its user, possesses the authority to define the scope of permissible use of the substitute vehicle," the facts regarding permission were crucial to the court's coverage determination. *Id.* Although Mr. Garcia's vehicle was experiencing serious mechanical problems at the time he test drove the truck, it did not qualify as a temporary substitute vehicle because he was only granted permission to test drive the truck; the auto dealer did not grant permission to use the truck as a substitute in the same manner the insured could have used his owned vehicle. *Id.* at 865.

Likewise, Shazier did not have permission to use the rental car as a substitute in the same manner the insured could have used her owned vehicle. Avis specifically defined the scope of permissible use via its rental agreement. Pursuant to the rental agreement signed by Shazier, she was not permitted to allow any unauthorized driver to use the rental car. Moreover, her permission to drive the rental car was automatically terminated when she allowed an unauthorized driver to use the vehicle. Finally, it is undisputed that Avis did not give Jordan permission to operate the rental car. Applying the plain language of the GEICO policy to the undisputed facts, the rental car cannot qualify as a "temporary substitute auto" in the absence of Avis's permission as to the use. *See Telemundo Television Studios, LLC, v. Aequicap Ins. Co.,* 38 So. 3d at 809 (an insured's failure to comply with the requirements of the policy is fatal as courts do not have the power to create insurance coverage).

The First District properly followed *Duncan*, the only Florida case to directly construe the phrase "used with the permission of its owner" as found within the "temporary substitute auto" definition, to hold that the rental car did not qualify as a "temporary substitute auto." Because the rental car was not being used with Avis's permission, it did not qualify as a "temporary substitute auto." The rental car was a "non-owned auto" for purposes of applying the persons insured omnibus clause, which only provides coverage to an insured who is actually driving the vehicle.

GEICO respectfully submits that there is no express and direct conflict with any Florida law, and this Court lacks jurisdiction to exercise discretionary review of this matter. *See* Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv); *Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington*, 339 So. 2d 200, 201 (Fla. 1976) (conflict review is limited to direct conflicts in the law out of concern for uniformity in decisions as precedent rather than the adjudication of the rights of particular litigants); *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986) (conflict "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision"); *Department of Revenue v. Johnston*, 442 So. 2d 950, 950 (Fla. 1983) (where there is a factual difference
between allegedly conflicting cases, jurisdiction will not lie. ); *Jenkins v. State*,
385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980) (conflict requirements are interpreted
restrictively to limit the Court's jurisdiction to those cases where the conflict is
express and not implied).

# B. Neither Roth v. Old Republic Ins. Co., 269 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1972), nor Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard, 112 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1959), has any direct application to the instant case.

Neither *Roth* nor *Susco* was argued in any of Petitioners' First District briefs nor cited in the First District's decision. These cases simply do not apply to the contract interpretation question presented to the Court in this case. The law governing liability pursuant to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine cannot create insurance coverage that otherwise does not exist. *See Kobetitsch v. American Mfrs.' Mut. Ins. Co.*, 390 So. 2d 76, 77 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) ("an original entrustment which would impose tort liability on the employer, does not as a matter either of public policy or of the proper construction of the [permissive use] clause in question - alone constitute the 'permission' to operate required by the insurance policy," *citing Ball v. Inland Mut. Ins. Co.*, 121 So. 2d 470 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960)); *Winters v. Phillips*, 234 So. 2d 716 (Fla. 3d DCA), *cert. denied*, 238 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1970) (tortfeasor operating vehicle without express consent of owner was not an insured under the provisions of the policy and the court refused to carry over the rules of implied consent in tort law to contract actions); *see also Royal Indem. Co. v. Ellsworth*, 2005 WL 2219274 (M.D. Fla. 2005) (vicarious liability arising from ownership of a dangerous instrumentality is inapposite in the context of a permissive use clause in a contract of insurance). For the most part, restrictions on use and contractual rights and duties are unrelated to the third-party tort liability created by the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. *Winters*, 234 So. 2d 716 ("No such policy dictates that, as between the insurance companies, the clear language of the policy or policies should not control.").

The exception occurs when the primary insurance coverage of the owner/legal title holder is involved. As stated in *Roth:* "The insurer of the owner's automobile is therefore primarily liable for injuries inflicted because of the negligent operation of the automobile under our holding in *Susco.*" 269 So. 2d at 5. This imposition of insurance coverage arises when control of the vehicle is voluntarily relinquished to another and is sanctioned by Florida's Financial Responsibility Law wherein the Legislature endorsed the concept of vicarious liability and sought to both promote safety and provide financial security, *see* section 324.011, Fla. Stat. (2005), and to impose minimum insurance

requirements, and to limit an owner's financial obligation, *see* section 324.021, Fla. Stat. (2005).

Thus, the owner's insurance coverage obligation exists not solely as a result of common law tort doctrine, but by statutory enactment. In determining the existence or nonexistence of insurance coverage under a policy held by the bailee or sub-bailee, the policy language controls. See Gabbard v. Allstate Property & Cas., 46 So. 3d 147, 148 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010) (where an insurer sought to establish that there was no coverage for an injured third party under a bailee's personal auto policy, the threshold question was whether the borrowed automobile was an owned or non-owned auto under the bailee's policy, recognizing a distinction between applying the definition of "non-owned" auto and the definition of "insured person" because "insured person" defined differently under two alternative scenarios - when an insured auto is owned and when it is non-owned; applying the definitions of owned and non-owned auto, the court determined that the subject vehicle was a non-owned auto and, thus, there was no coverage because the vehicle was furnished for the bailee's regular use). There is no requirement under Florida law that a person carry insurance for or that an insurer provide coverage for a "temporary substitute auto" or a "non-owned" auto. See Pastori v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 473 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (no

statutory requirement for "temporary substitute auto" coverage; in the absence of a statutory requirement, "the courts have no power simply to create coverage out of whole cloth"); *Budget Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 727 So. 2d 287, 291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) ("there is no general statutory regulation of non-owned auto coverage").

Both Susco and Roth are distinguishable on their facts. In Susco, the Court held that a rental car owner, along with its liability insurer, is liable to injured third parties for the negligence of any driver in the chain of custody, regardless of the terms of the rental agreement. 112 So. 2d at 836, *citing American Fire & Cas. Co.* v. Blanton, 182 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). Further, as concerns the vehicle owner, implied consent arises by operation of law and cannot be negated by a private contract. 182 So. 2d at 837. In Susco, the Court further made note of the Legislature's role in shaping this public policy: "Responsibility under the law was accordingly attached to *ownership* of these instrumentalities, evinced first by registration laws and now by numerous provisions to assure financial responsibility of owners. It is plain that these provisions are based on the assumption that an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without assuming, or continuing, his full responsibility to the public. Such statutory provisions would, of course, be quite nugatory if ultimate liability could

be escaped by contract of the owner." 112 So. 2d at 837 (emphasis in original; footnote omitted). Nevertheless, the Court observed that such duty to the public does not apply "as between the parties to such contract." *Id*.

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